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JAMAICA

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL

SUPREME COURT CIVIL APPEAL NO: 49/81

BEFORE: The Hon., Mr, Justice Rowe, J.A,
The Hon. Mr. Justice Cerey, J.A,
The Hon. Mr. Justice Campbell, J.A, (Ag.)
BEIWEEN: KAISER BAUXITE COMPANY . DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

AN D: VINCENT CADIEN PIAINTIFT/RESPONDENT

Dr. L,C. Barnett instructed by Mrs. Janet Morgan
of Milholland Ashenhein & Stone for the Appellant

Mr. Horace Edwards, Q,C, instructed by Mr., Crafton Miller
for the Respondent,

October 4, 5, 6 and July 29, 1983

ROVE J.A.

Morgan J. had the opportunity to observe the demeanour of
the plaintiff/respondent and the five witnesses as to fact called on
behalf of the appellanfh‘ company., After much reflection and a
complete re-reading of the Record I am persuaded that the learned trial
judge’s assessment of the primary facts and the inferences which she
drew from them were so much againgt the weight of the evidence, that the
judgment rendered on behalf of tl:e plaintiff/respondent is unsound and
cannot stand, I have read the judgments of Carey J.A, and Campbell J.A,
(Ag.) and as I find myself in complete agreement with the reasons which
they have advanced, I concur that the appeal should be allowed and that
the judgment of the court below be set aside and that judgment be
entered for the appellant with costs, both here and below, to be agreed

or taxed.
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CAREY, J.A.:

This is an appeal from the judgment of Morgan, J., whereby she
entered judgment in favour of the respondent in the sum of $12,869.00
against the appellants in an action for wrongful dismissal. The burden
of the complaint against the judgment was that the judge had misdirected
herself as to the facts.

In my view, her findings of fact are unreasonable and against
the weight of evidence. |In arriving at this conclusion, | am very mindful
of the caveat against this court interfering with findings of fact of a
Judge sitting without a jury. The principles on which an appellate court
should act where it fs minded to disturb findings of fact are succintly

and correct |y stated in the headnote of Watt or Thomas v. Thomas [1947]

A.C. 484 as follows:

"When a2 question of fact has been ftried by a judge without a
%jury and 1t is not suggested that he has misdirected himself in law, an
"appellate court in reviewing the record of the evidence should attach
"the greatest weight fo his opinion because he saw and heard the
"witnesses, and should not disturb his judgment unless it is plainly
"unsound. The appellate court is however free to reverse his conclusions
"if the grounds given by him therefor are unsatisfactory by reason of
Ymaterial inconsistencies or inaccuracies or if it appears unmistakebly
"from the evidence that in reaching them he has not Takenlggsgsiage of
“having seen and hea}d the withesses or has failed to appreciate the
"weight and bearing of circumstances admitted or proved.”

The evidence of the respondent should first be looked at. He had,
by dint of hard work, risen to the position of shipping foreman in the
appel lant's mining company and he had been in that position for somewhat
in excess of a year at the time of the incident, which, in the result,
culminated in his dismissal from the company's employment. His account
of his actions on that day are important. On Good Friday, April 8, 1977,
the respondent’s period of duty was between 4:00 p.ﬁ. and midnight; it is
callied the "swing-shift". He dutifully reported at 4:00 p.m. and relieved
Mr. Winter, the shipping supervisor, who apprised him of the fact that
bauxite loading operations were scheduled to start at 8:00 p.m. Between

4:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. he occupied himself in inspecting the loading
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system and found It in working order. He also telephoned his wife and
attended at one Winter's house wheie he saw Cover, ths gantry operator,
and a witness for the appeliant. After that, at 7:00 to 7:15 p.m., he
left to check the level of the water before loading operations begun.
He ordered loading to begin at 8:00 p.m. but this was halted when the
hopper became blocked and the shuttle belt over loaded. He explained
that it was the gantry operator (Mr. Cover) who reported that the system
had broken down. He visited the site of the blockage and set two men
to work to have it cleared. He next spoke to the electrician whom he
requested to check the electrical system and went to advise Mr. Winter of
the situation. His next step was to search in the areas of Discovery Bay,
Farm Town and Thicketts for men whom he knew as casual workers in the pool
maintained by the appe!lants. He had seen persons in The square during
his search but did not recognise any as casual workers. By the Time he
had completed his unsuccessful search for workers, it was almost [1:00 p.m.
On his return, an injury fo his toe began acting up, and as a result, he
sat down with his feet on the desk. Prior to his return fo the office, he
had been to the gantry where he had seen the men still engaged in clearing
the blockage. AT 12:00 midnight, his shift ended; he left at 12:05 a.m.
Before he left, he compieted some records but made no note in the log-book
regarding the fact of the blockage. He had seen Mr. Clarke to whom he
mentioned the breakdown and requested him to advise Mr. Pengelley of the
situation. He did see Mr. Pengelley at midnight but said nothing to him nor
did Pengelley say anyvhing fo him.

On the following day he was suspended from duty. He informed
Winter of the circumstances of The breakdown. Some days after this, at
the personnel office, he was asked to give a statement but he demurred on
the ground that he would defer providing one until there was a hearing.

On April 25, he received a letter from the company terminating his

services.

He acknowledged that 1+ was the correct procedure to prepare a
written report of the events of the night fto be left for the person
relieving him on the shift when this was practical. It was not impractical
to have prepared it in the circumstances. He also conceded that two men

could not clear the blockage by midnight. | think it is as well to note
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that although the respondent said he had ordered loading to begin, he afso
said that he was on the way from inspecting the water levels at 8:00 p.m.,
which was somewhere in the shipping area.

The appellant!s version of the respondent's conduct is based
not on direct evidence but on inferences to be drawn from the evidence
adduced on its behalf. lan Pengelley, the person with overall responsi-
bility for shipping, among other duties, called and spoke to the
respondent at 5:00 p.m. requiring to be informed If the system was ready
for loading to re-commence and whether the pilotage authority was advised
of the expected time of departure of the vessel. His response was that
everything was satisfactory but that he learnt his wife was trying to
locate him, tThat he had himself tried to get through to her but was
unsuccessful and enquired whether if further attempts failed, It would
be possible to use his (Pengelley’s) telephone. Permission was granted.
In the event, Cadien never came o his house to use the phone. As to J
this conversation, Cadien emphatically denied that it ever took place.

Leopold Cover was The gantry operator. He was on duty
during the swing shift and arrived at work at 4:00 p.m. He did not see
Cadien until 4:25 p.m. At 8:00 p.m., he was in the gantry tower from
where he telephoned the shipping-foreman's office and got no reply. He
tried the guard-gate but did not raise Cadien. He started loading
operations on his own.

After 15 minutes operation, the conveyor belt tripped out for
the reason, as he discovered, the shuttle belt was skjdding and over-
loaded. He fried once moie to find Cadien by phoning his office but
failed to do so. On his way to Winter's house, he did meet Cadien,
and made a report to him. They returned to the gantry, Cadien enquiring
repeatedly what had occurred. Cadien ieft and returned with a fiash~
light. They both examined the belt and the hopper. By this time The
electrician whom Cadien said he would have sent for, arrived. |t was
suggested to the elecirician that he bridge the overioaded relays but
that, the electrician declined o do. Cadien left two men to shovel the
bauxite from the belt. It was now 8:40 p.in. Cover did not see Cadien
for the rest of the shift which ended at midnight.

Cover explained that upon his arrival, he had reported at
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the shipping foreman's office but had not seen him. It was Winter who
advised him that there would be no loading until 8:00 p.m. Cover denied
that he had been invited on that evening to Winter's home nor had he
visited there. It was in the course of going there, however, to look
for Cadien, that he met him. This piece of evidence conflicts with
Cadien's on this point. Cadien had said that Winter had invited both
himself and Cover to his, Winter's home, and both had done so. Each man
travel led separately. Cover arrived first, but both left together. For
completion, | might add, that Cover explained that when he saw Cadien at
4:25 p.m., Cadien was driving in from the pier gate to his workplace. At
that time Cover was at his post up in the gantry.

Peter Winter, at the material time, was shipping supervisor
and the person to whom Cadien was directly answerable. On the day in
question, he was on duty between 8:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. He expected to
be relieved at 4:00 p.m. by Cadien. At about that time Cadien's wife
calied, but when he looked in at Cadien's office, did not see him. At
4:25 p.m. Cadien arrived and got out of his car. He was told of his
wife's call and directed to check everything to ensure that the system
was ready for loading at 8:00 p.m. He next saw Cadien at his home at
6:00 p.m, He remained some 20 - 30 minutes. The purpose of the visit
was to report on the status of the system. Cover never visited him that
evening. So far as the breakdown went, he knew nothing of it until the
fol lowing morning.

The next significant point in time, is at approximately
I1:30 p.m., when Clarke, the shift supervisor, received a report from the
electrician which caused him to put a call through to Pengelley. Cilarke
and the electrician both went to the pier. Cadien was not seen but a
truck provided for his use, was observed, parked at the ship-ioading
office. He went to the gantry where he saw Cover. The shuttle belt
was over-loaded with baaﬁéfe but some of It had been shovelled off.
Neither of the two men/apparently had been assigned for that purpose, was
at that time actively engaged. He went to the ship-loading office,where,
on looking through a window, he observed Cadien reclining in a chair with
his two bare feet on a desk, and his back against a wall: he appeared to

be asieep. He requested two employees to accompany him to have a look
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but both declined to become involved. Returning to the office, he spoke
with Cadien, telling him that he had been asked by Pengelley to check on
the present situation. Cadien's reply was to use a deal of abusive and
Indecent language. Clarke then told him that he had his permission to -
go out and find other casual workers. Cadien ;aid‘he had already tried o
but had not succeeded. Clarke attempted to contact Pengel ley but could

not. He carried out some other duties, returned to the Plant and handed
over to his relief. On his return to the pier, he saw Pengelley to whom

he spoke and he departed. After Clarke had spoken to Pengelley at 11:30

p.m., the latter telephoned the shipping office, heard ringing tones but

no one answered. He called and spoke to Cover, the gantry operator. He

also spoke to the guard at the pier gate. None of these calls produced

any result as far as Cadien was concerned. In the event, he got dressed,
called on Winter but was unable to speak with him, drove along the road,
col lected three casual workers whom he turned over to the relieving

foreman, @ Mr. Sinclair. He saw Cadien by the pier seated in his car, in

front of the shipping office. Cover confirmed that Pengelley had telephoned .
him at 11:30 p.m. and he had. glivon him some Information. When he was |
leaving, hq saw Pengel ley.

As to the evidence regarding the plaintiff's dismissal,
Pengelley said that on |8th April, 1977, he made a request for Cadien to
be at the Personnel Office on that day. He required a statement regarding the
events that took place during his shift, as investigations into the delay
were in progress. Cadien refused to give any statement then, but said
that he was prepared to answer charges when they were made. Prior fo
this, on the day fol|§wing the breakdown, Winter called on Cadien to give
an explanation. Cadien told him what he had done, viz., that he had
asked the electrician to bridge out an overloaded switch but the
electrician did not accede to his suggestion. He put two men to work
and had gone out to find extra help but had found no one. Winter then
asked for a written statement but this he declined to do. At this point he
was suspended from his duties.
The evidence of the plaintiff thus stood alone; the witnesses
for the defence supported each other. There were confliicts between the

versions which the learned judge was called upon to consider and resolve.
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To take the earliest example, viz., his time of arrival. Cadien’s

evidence was, he arrived at 4:00 p.m. and relieved Winter. But 'he was not
seen to arrive until 4:25 p.m. by Cover or Winfer. It is as well to see
how the learned judge resolved the matter. She said this:

"Late-Coming

"Mr. Cadien insists that he arrived on duty at 4:00 p.m,

"and not at 4:25 p.m. One would have expected that he would proceed
Timmediately to relieve the man on duty. Mr, Winter says it was 4:25

"he saw him but he would not be able to say if he had come in before that
"time. The probabilities are that Mr. Cadien was on time but late in
"reaching the office. Human beings do not operate with the precision

"of machines.

"™r. Cover the gantry operator said that when he came at
"4:00 p.m. he did not see him but if he had come ear!ier and was on the
"plant he would not be able to say. |t was a holiday and an unusual shift
"for him, the chances are that that fact was supportive of his being on
"the compound and of encouraging dalliance in reaching the office.
| am supported in this finding from the fact that nothing was adduced
"o satisfy the Court or even infer that he was habitual in this late
"coming, or even that it had occurred once before.”

On the basis of this rationalization which, with respect, |
found jejune, the learned judge found that there "is no abuse by
"Mr. Cadien of late coming to the cffice and this singular breach cannot
"be regarded either as lack of concern or indifference." The judge alsc
recorded in her judgment that “Mr. Winter remained in his office till
"he came, the system was not {eft unmanned and no detriment was suffered
"by the Company.”

The appellant averred in its pleadings that the respondent
was "guilty of misconduct in and about his said employment" in that
(inter alia) he reported tate for work. In these circumstances, the
Judge was required to determine as a matter of fact whether or not the
plaintiff reported late for work. What she did was to find on his behalf
an excuse for his lateness by saying “since it was a holiday he might
"have arrived earlier at the compound but reported at his office late.”

Was he a truthful witness when he said he arrived at 4:00 p.m. fo relieve
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Mr. Winter? He did not say he came l|ate because it was a holiday: he said
he came at 4:00 p.m. This was plainly in conflict with the evidence of
Cover who saw him driving intfo the compound in his car at 4:25 p.m. and
also Winter to the like effect. Since she found in the end that on this
occasion Cadien was late, it must be presumed that she accepted the
evidence of the two witnesses. Logically therefore, Cadien could not be
betieved. |1 would be necessary in those circumstances to scrutinize his
other evidence with care.

The credit of the several witnesses was plainly of Importance
in this case. In this illustration, it is not the case of an unreason-
able finding but, | am inclined to think, of "a failure to appreciate
the weight and bearing of circumstances admitted or proved." | have
read the judgment with particular care and have searched to see if at any
point, she found any particular witness fo be untruthful or unreliable.
She approached the question of credit in this way:

"One appreciates that each man is infterested In the self-preservation
"of his job, a factor which | find runs through the evidence of some of
"the witnesses, a self-preservation that is moreso understandable when
"it is demonstrated that in the organisation of which they form a part
"it requires the influence and signature of one person to dismiss fThem.
"To ensure that this does not happen it is easy to see how evidence is
"fwisted and bent, sometimes gently, sometimes sharply not in an attempt
"to thwart Mr. Cadien's cause but to extricate themselves from admitting
"having done what they thenselves know as being against the rules.”

| understood that observation to mean that a concern fo preserve job
status, induced witnesses to be untruthful, although none were minded

to lie deliberately and so prejudice Cadien's cause. She illustrated
the validity of this formulation by holding that Cadien and Cover belng
on social terms with Winter, were on that evening invited by him for
drinks, the effect of these being to render Winter incapable of pro-
viding any essistance that night. Both Cover and Winter denied receiving
any such invitation. The latter, it was suggested, "bent and twisted
"+he evidence, sharply™ because he did not wish it to be known that he
had withdrawn two men from their functions, and Cover because he was

constrained to corroborate Winter's evidence and maintain his stance
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that he was never absent from his post. Now, there is absolutely not a
scintilla of evidence that Winter was unavailable because he had imbibed
well and not wisely. The learned judge may well have entertained strong
suspicions in this regard but it was never evén suggested to Winter that
drinks had been served: Cadien contented himself by saying that both he
and Cover were invited but he himself left at between 7:00 p.m. to 7:15
p.m. The judge found that Cadien was absent from 6:00 p.m. to 7:15 p.m.
Since she accepted Cadien's evidence as to the visit to Winter, then
Cover would have been absent from his post some time before 6:00 p.m. and
between then and 7:00 p.m. to 7:15 p.m. Seeing that loading was to
begin at 8:00 p.m. and did in fact start at that time, it is difficult,
| fear, to appreciate what reason Cover could have to "twist or bend his
evidence” to show he was never absent from his post. On the occasions
when Cover was required to perform his duties, no one has suggested that
he was absent. As to ‘Winter, again,what did he stand to lose by
admitting that he invited both men to his house? Indeed, Winter said
that Cadien had come to his house at 6:00 p.m. to report on the status of
the loading system, and remained some 20 ~ 30 minutes. The judge was In
error when she said that Cover had met Cadien coming from Winter. Cover's
evidence was that after the breakdown, he was on his way to Winter, when
he met Cadien. In my respectful view, the basis for this view as to
lying, out of self-interest is fanciful and misconceived.

Again, | come to the conclusion that the learned judge
failed to appreciate the weight and bearing of circumstances admitted or
proved.

By reason of that approach, the judge concluded that Cadien
was '"'not available at the time of the blockege but was not absent from
"his post."” He was engaged, he had said, in checking the water levels.
The evidence of Cadien at one point was that he had given the order to
start operations at 8:00 p.m., and at another time, he was on his way from
checking water levels: it was the gantry operator, Cover, who told him
of the breakdown. But Cadien did not vouchsafe where it was, that he
was so advised: he was content to say that Cover came and reported it to him.
Now thls Is curlious because the evidence of Cover was that he telephoned

Cadien. having ascertained the nature and cause of the breakdown but
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got no response. He went to advise Winter of the situation and on his
way there,met Cadien. The allegation of misconduct was stated to be
absence from his post. The effect of Cadien's evidence was that he
was not at his office when operations started at 8:00 p.m., nor did
he give fthe order to start. This is consistent with the evidence of
Cover that he started up on his own. |In a situation where Cadien was
the responsible employee on duty, it would be reasonable to expect that
he would have given the order to commence operation. He did not, for he
was not at a place where he could have done so. When the breakdown
occurred, he was again not at his office. He had to be sought out. As
| understand it, he was aware that loading had not started earlier
because of the lack of dried bauxite. That being so, any further delay
would have resulted in increased costs. He occupied a post of
responsibility and would appreciate these factors. | am not clear whether
the judge in holding that "though Cadien was nct immediately available

"at the time of the blockage, he was not absent from his post,” meant he

was on the leave which she found, had impliedly been given to Cadien by
Winter in the invitation to drinks. Her preference for the evidence of
Cadien that he was not available at the time of the blockage but was not
absent from his post was based on her finding the evidence of Cover
discredited. But having failed correctly to appreciate Cover's evidence
which as | said she mis=stated, a finding that Cadien had not absented
himself from his post, must be at least dubious.

Another finding was that Cadien had in fact gone out to
search for casual workers but was unsuccessful. | would suggest two
grounds for holding that this finding is unreasonable. In the first
place, Cadien said he was aware that a pool of casual workers existed,
but did not know that a list of names of these persons was available.

He had gone about looking to find some of those whom he knew. His
evidence is interesting: 'Men were there but no casual worker |

“"knew. Could be some | did not know who were there. Never asked those
"as | went to ask those | knew. My purpose was to get persons to assist.™
It seems preposterous that in the situation of emergency which had

arisen, a responsible member of staff could be expected to be believed

when he gave evidence that he made not a solitary cnquiry but merely

23/
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looked in different faces as if on an identification parade, or as suggested,

during the arguments at the bar, as if on a beauty parade. That evidence
as quoted, is capablie of two inferences; one, that Cadien was not a
responsible or intelligent person; or two, that he was lying when he
said he had gone in search of men. As to the first inference, that would
be inconsistent with other evidence which the judge accepted, showed that
Cadien had risen rapidly in the ranksand was therefore a competent and
efficient worker. In that situation, the second was inescapable. No
reasonable person could believe he could have done what he said he had
done that night. But the judge also based this finding that he had gone
in search of casual workers on his candour in telling Mr. Clarke that he
had attempted to do so but had failed. She said: "I find that this
"statement of Mr. Clarke was made at a time when Mr. Cadien had no
"thought or idea that his actions would be the subject of enquiry and

"at a time in which to make up a story.”" |n point of fact, Cadien was
wel | aware that he was required as part of his normal duties to record
in the log~book the nature of his efforts in clearing the blockage.
Self=interest would have begun to operate from then. The question of

any thought fto future enquiry was, in my view therefore, quite far-
fetched. As to time to concoct a story, how long does it require to make
up a story? The judge also conjectured that Cadien's difficulty in find-
ing workers was that he may have looked at the wrong places and had no
prior experience in recruiting casual workers. With respect, | do not
think conjecture is a rational basis for a judgment. In my view, the
inescapable inference was he had done nothing to get extra help. Again,
| am constrained to hold that the judge failed to appreciate the weight
and bearing of circumstances admitted or proved before her.

It was alleged by the defendant as part of the plaintiff's

misconduct that he had failed "fto report the Incident or the circumstances

"of the breakdown to the appropriate officer.” The members of staff who
gave evidence, save for the plaintiff were well aware of the procedure
whereby the shipping-foreman, during the back shifts, reported to the
drying supervisor, Mr. Clarke. The plaintiff on the night in question
sought the help of Mr. Winter because of his ignorance of this procedure.

The judge found that "apparently the necessity never arose for
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"Mr. Winter to tell him and so Mr. Winter forgot to do so." Now it is
perfectly true that Winter could not recall having briefed Cadien as to
the line of authority. But as | understood his evidence, although he
could not recall having done so, it was possible he had done so. |In

other words, in the normal course of events, it is more probable than

not, that he had. The real question, however, seeing that the judge found
that the Drying Supervisor was not a person to whom Cadien needed to have
reported since he was not so briefed, was, did Cadien take reasonable

and adequate measures to rectify the faults which had developed in the
loading system? Cadien knew of the presence of Clarke. It would
certainly have been reasonable to seek assistance from any source. Clarke
had the experience and in point of fact was the senior staff member on
duty at the material ftime. But Cadien did not attempt to do so nor did
he call Pengelley. On the evidence, mutely he went looking in people's
faces to see if he knew them, an endeavour which occupied him from after
8:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.

One of the factors which induced fthe learned judge to find in
favour of the plaintiff was that when the steps which the plaintiff said
he had taken, were put to the defendant’s witnesses, they acknowledged
that they were reasonable. However, the real question, | suggest, was
whether, in fact, he had taken adequate measures. Apart from his own word
on the subject, what he had done was to assign two men to clear the
bauxite. He well knew at least two or three extra men would have been
required to clear the blockage expeditiousty. His evidence was that he
had failed to obtain extra help. The ship, as was found, was delayed for
four hours. |t was also found that had he obtained extra help, the
blockage would have been cleared earlier. By failing to weigh the
evidence correctly, the learned judge fell into error in holding that
Cadien did not display incompetence or neglect and that he had taken
adequate measures in the circumstances.

Another of the examples of misconduct was the averment that Cadien
used indecent language to a superior officer. The learned judge dis=-
believed Cadien and found that he had in fact used indecent language in
a situation, where such conduct could not be said to have interferred

with, or prejudiced the safe and proper conduct of the company to justify
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dismissal. It was the view of the judge that indecent language was
excusable in circumstances where men are pent up and working. She

relied on Jupiter General Insurance v, Shroff [1937] 3 All E.R. (Rep.)

67 and the words of Maughan, L.J., at p. 74, where he said:

"Their Lordships would be very loath to assent to the view
“that a single outbreak of bad temper accompanied I+ may be with
"regrettable language is sufficient ground for dismissal. Sir John
"Beaumont C.J. was stating a proposition of mere good sense when he
"observed that in such cases one must apply the standards of men and not |
those of angels and remember that men are apt to show temper when
"reprimanded.”

I for one, do not quarrel with that eminently sensible approach
but, was it applicable in the circumstances which arose in the present
case? Plainly, no one was being reprimanded. There was no evidence
that Cadicen was "pent up". The judge, be it noted, disbelieved Cadien.
Winter's evidence was that after receiving a report from the electrician;
he sought out Cadien whom he found apparently asleep, When he told him
that Pengelley wished to know what was the situation, the response took
the form of expletives. Clarke was himself a senior officer acting in
the course of his duties, fransmitting a request for information in the
emergency which had arisen. The words - "fuck Penge!ley, fuck Pengelley
"to rass, fuck unoo. A call Pengelley The other night and him curse me
isff", was more than merc discourtesy: [T was gravely undisciplined con=-
duct, incompatible with the responsible position he held. There was also
evidence of Clarke, the significance of which, | do not think was
appreciated. He said that when he went to the ship loading office, he
saw McKain, the guard, on his way from the office to his post by the
pier gate. Pengelley, it must be remembered, had telephoned the guard
in his endeavours to find Cadien and had heard nothing from him. Then
Clarke, having observasd Cadien reclining in his office when everyonc else
was trying to locate him, thought it adviseable to call on two other
workers but they refused to interfere. The weight of this evidence
suggests that Cadien far from sitting out the last half an hour or resting?

his feet, was fast asleep which would explain why he never contacted

L4 5
Pengolley That night., In this situation; | do not think it could fairly
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be said that Cadicn was letting off steam in fhe rough and ready milieu
of a shipping and mining operation. The conclusion appears to me
incscapasle that he was quite indifferont to hié responsibilities, or in
the fanguage of the pleadings, "he placed a tow priority on the perform-
"ance of his duties.”
I think | have said sufficient to demonstrate that this court
is entitled to interfcre with the findings of fact of the learned judge
on the basis that there was a failure on her part to appreciate the
weight and bearing of circumstances admitted or proved. | should, however,
also deal with Cadien's refusal fo give a written statement when requested
to dc so. The judge found none was requested. The finding, | would hold,
is against the weight of evidence. |t is not at all clear to me why she
disbelieved Winter but accepted Cadien. The basis of self-preservation
which would cause Winter to bend the evidence, does not appear appropriate
in these circumstances. Whether or not a decision had been taken to
suspend him, what interest to protect self could prompt Winter tc tell &
deliberate falsehood? | have not besn able to discover with certainty the
basis of thls preference from a careful reading of the judgment. It would
seem that what was being said was that since the suspension was already
decided upon and the management had already heard the oral explanation,
then no written explanation could have been asked for. For my part, |
#m not able to accept this analysis as satisfoctory: it is a non sequitur,
Im the ight of the views ! have oxpressed, it becomes
necessary to exainine the pleadings fo see whether the defence as pleaded
was met by the evidence. The defence which is set out hereunder was
pleaded cumuiatively and in the alternative -
2. With reference to paragraph 5 of Statement of Claim the
"Sacond Defendant admits that the Plaintiff was assigned to the Swing
"Shift on April 8, 1977 but says that he was late in taking up his duties.
"3. veewo. In particulaor the Second Defendant says that the
"Plaintiff failed to inspecf the ship loéding systom and fq take pre~
“cautions against excessive water on the conveyor belts and to ensure
"that the belt was correctly tensioned.
. essssan in parTicu!ar the Plaintiff when Informed that loading

Yaporetions vould recammence at 8:00 pom. gtated that communiceting with

2%/



I5.

"his wife has priority over the execution of his duty and the pre-checking
"of critical points in the loading system., He absented himself from his
"post from approximately 6:00 p.m, to 8:30 p.m. and was absent when the
"Hopper and Shuttle Belt became blocked and overloaded. In addition he
"'remained in his office between approximately 8:45 p.m. and {2:00 mid-
"night and took no steps to deal with the problem.

"7, With reference to paragraph 12 of the Statement of Claim,
"the Second Defendant says that it was part of the duties and obligations
"of the Plaintiff under his contract of employment with the First
"Defendant to report on the loading operations, the problems that had
Tarisen and the measures taken to deal with them during the period of
"his shift but the Plaintiff during the Investigations by the First
"Defendant into these matters expressly refused and/or neglected to make
"any report thereby acting in breach of his duties and obligations as
"aforesaid.

"9, Further or alternatively, the Second Defendant says that the
"Plaintiff In the course of his said employment with the First Defendant
"and before the alleged wrongful dismissal, was guilty of misconduct in
"and about his said employment.

i PART | CULARS

" (n Reporting late for work and placing a low priority on the

" performance of his duties despite the importance of these

" duties to the smooth operations of the unloading system and

" heavy expenses which may result from his default.

" (2) Absenting himself from his post, failing to take precaution-
ary measures against injury to the First Defendant.

W (3) Failing to take any or any adequate measures to rectify the
faults which had arisen in the loading system.

" (1) Using indecent language to a superior officer, namely the

1 Plant Shift Supervisor, Evon Ciarke and acting in an insolent

" and irresponsible manner.
"o (5) Failing to report the incident or the circumstances of the
" breakdown to the appropriate officer.

i (6) Refusing o give a report on the circumstances when requested

i To.

3%
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16.
B N By acting as aforesaid the Plaintiff was guilty of -
f (2) insubordination
" (b gross neglect and/or reckless disregard of his duties,
i and |
i () abdication of his responsibilities,”

The evidence adduced on behalf of the defendant fell far short of
procf of paragraphs 3, 5 and 7 of the defence but it is plain from the
evontual conduct of the case that paragraph 9 was the substantive basis
of the dofenee. All the particulars stated in paragraph 9 have, on the
evidence, been amply made out. The result is that the learned judge did
misdirect herself on the facts as shown in this judgment. | would
accordingly allow the appeal.

Although the question of dameges no longer arises for resolution,
| nevertheless, propose now to express shortly my views as to the award of
damages. | do so out of deference to the arguments of counsel and the
dearth cf authority within our jurisdiction. The award was in the
following form:

"Six weeks in lieu of notice @ $!,206,00
"per month ... .0 see e e $1,809.00

"Ten months loss of prospective earnings 12,060.00

General Damages ... . coe  sas $1,000.00 ¥

Complaint is made in respect of prospective earnings and general demages,

viz., that no award should be made.

For convenience, | consider first the award of general damages.
It is plain the learned judge took two factors into consideration (1) the
denial of the privilege of future advancement in the company; (ii) the
very high~handed manner in which he was removed after |3 years of dedicated
service. The learned judge cited no authority for these factors as
permissible heads for an award of damages in an action for wrongful
dismissal, The piainfiff's claim sounded in contract, not in tort, and
the general rule as respects damages in breach of contract is the loss

fiowing from the breach. In the case of wrongful dismissal, that would

ROR—
L

be the estimated pecuniary loss resuiting as a reascnable and probable

consequence from the premature determination of the employee's service.
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Subject to the plaintiffis obligation to mitigate his loss, he would be
entitled to wages due and payable for the agreed period of service.
Under the Employment (Termination and Redundancy Payments) Act, this
plaintiff would be entitied to six weeks notice (see sec. 3 (1)(c)). |+t
was held by the judge tThat six weeks was reasonable notice. The defendant
has not scught to urge that six weeks is unreasonable; counse!l, on its
behalf, takes no issue in That regard. But as to the 10 months loss of
prospective earnings, it was argued that there is no authority for such

a head of dameges. Mr. Edwards, for the respondent, relied on Maw v. Jones

(1890) 63 L.T. 347 and Yetton v. Eastwoods Froy Ltd. [1966] 3 All E.R. 353

to urge that the award was sustainable. | did not find the latter case
helpful for the question at issue there, was whether steps taken by the

plaintiff to mitigate his loss were reasonable. Maw v. Jones (supra)

related to the wrongful dismissal of an apprentice. In that case on the
issue of damages, Lord Coleridge, C.J., and Matthew, J., approved a
direction of Manisty, J., to a jury that in assessing damages to which

the plaintiff was entitied, although they might fake into consideration

the fact that the defendant would have been justified in dismissing the
plaintiff with a week's notice they were not bound to limit the damages

to the value of the week's notice which he had lost. This case does appear,
at first blush, to support Mr. Edwards' contention. But for two reasons,
there is no merit in the point. In the first place, apprenticeship agree-
ments arec treated differently from other contracts of service. See

Dunk v. George Walter & Son Ltd. [1970] 2 Al E.R. 630, where Lord Denning,

M.R., stated that "an apprenticeship agreement is of a special character"
for the reason that, "the very object of an apprenticeship agreement is
"+o enable the apprentice to fit himself to get better emp loyment, [f
"his apprenticeship is wrongly determined, so that he does not get the
"benefit of the training for which he stipulated, then it is a head of
"damage for which he may recover.™

Secondly, Maw v. Jones (supra) was overruled in Addis v.

Gramophone Co. Ltd.[1909] A.C. 486. The additional damages to which

Lord Coleridge, C.J., thought the plaintiff in Maw v. Jones (supra) was

entitled, related to the fact that his dismissal without notice implied

a slur on his charactar, which would render it more difficult for him fo
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obtain future employment elsewhcre. All the Law Lords in Addis v.

Gramophone Co. Ltd. (supra) were at one in holding that damages for
wrongful dismissal cannot include compensation for the manner of the
dismissal for his injured feelings or for the loss he may sustain from
the fact thet dismissal of itself makes it more difficult for him to
obtain fresh employment,

It is, 1 think, settled law that where it is an express term
of the contract that a servant who is dismissed without notice is to be
paid his wages for a certain period in lieu of notice, the measure of
damages is the amount of such wages which is to be regarded as |iquidated
damages. See 16 Halsbury (4th edifion) para. 653, where the law is
correctly stated. There was in this case no express term of the contract
of employment requiring the giving of notice of any stipulated length.

As | sald before, the learned judge held that six weeks was reasonable:
that, as well, is the minimum period prescribed by the Act for a case
such as this,

Another reference to 16 Halsbury (4th edition) para. 653 is
useful: “In any othor case (i.e. where there is no express term or usage)
"the damages are to be measured by the amount of wages which the servant
"has bsen prevented from earning by reason of his wrongful dismissal, this
"is subject to taking into consideration the probabilities of his obtain-
"ing employment elscwhere.”

The examples given, however, relate to damages for loss of

opportunity to make profits on company sharaes. See Inchbald v. Western

Neilgherry Coffee, Tea and Cinchona Plantation Co. Ltd. (1864) 34 L.J.

C.P. 15; loss of commission Addis v. Gramophone Co. Ltd. (supra).

Although the learned authors of Mayne & McGregor on Damages (12th edition)
paragraph 610 suggest that the servant is entitled to recover for

prospective loss, no authority is cited. In EdwardZv. Society of Graphical

& Allied Trades [1970] | W.L.R. 379 where it was suggested that the

principles applicable to cases of perscnal injuries should be applied as
respects the period in relation to which the damages ought fto be calculated,
that was not a case of wrongful dismissal but an action for wrongful

procurement of dismissal.
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in the result, *ho outhorities wste

bligh that in 2n =otion
such as the present, the measurc of damages must be related to the
period of notice in the absence of agreement, held to be reasonable. In
the present case that period was six wesks. The plaintiff had he been
wrongful Iy dismissed would have been entitled to nothing further than

the awarc of $1,809.00. The iearned judge, in my view, fell into error

—
when she awarded damages for loss of prospective carnings and general

¢ i

damages.

R
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This is an appeal by Kaiser Bauxites Company the appellant
against the judgment of Morgan, J. delivered on the 17th day of July,
1921 declaring that the respondent Vincent Cadien had been wrongfullw
dismigsged by it and avarding special damages of $11,860.07 for loss of
earnings actual and prospective and $1,700.00 seneral damages.

The respondent who at the date of the incident had been
in the service of tiie appellant for nearly thirteen vears and had
served in varying ‘unior and intermediary capacities until attaining
the responsible office of Shipping Foreman, was on swing shift duty
from 4132 p.m. to 12:130 midnight on Oth April, 1277, He was
respongible for the loading of bauxite on to a ship at the appellant's
Port Rhodes Pier in the parish of St., Ann. Loading was scheduled to
commence at C:00 p.m. and did in fact commence then, but within
{ifteen minutes of the commencement there was a Llocl:age of the hopper
with resultant overloading of the shuttle telt. The conduct of the
respondent in dealing with the situation together with certain related
incidents in the view of the appellant merited summary dismissal. The
regpondent sued for wron~ful dismissal. The facts adduced in evidence
are fully set out in the judgment of Carey J.A.

In order to oppreciate the grounds on which the appellant
attacked the *udgment of the learned trial judge it is necessary to
state succinctly the mairn contention of the respective parties in their
pleadings,

The respondent averred in his statement of claim that:

(a) Prior to the commencement of the loading
operations he took all necessary care to
engure that the loading system was in

proper working order and did go find the
same.
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(b) During the loading operations there vwas
ez blochage of the hopper and over-loading
of the shuttle belt. He immediately took
the rnecessaxry steps to clear the bkloclked
hopper and over-loaded shuttle by:

(i) getting the men on the chift to use
1

shovels to clear tie blochkage:

(\ / (ii) alerting hie immediate supervisor

—_ and by trying to obtain temporary
employeeeg from the nearvy areas but
vvithout success:

(iii) continuing to worl: and doing everythinc
possible to restore the loading
operation desnite an iniured toe to the
point where the toe having ltesun to bleed,
he had necessarily to seel: temporary
relief for about ten minutes by elevating
his foot on a degk in his office.

(c) Despite the stems taken to restore the loading
operation he was on the 9th Lpxil, 1977, siven
- a2 notice suspending him from duty pending
(\ investigation.

(@) During the investigation he was given no
cpportunity to defend himgelf{ zgainst
poseible charges that could likely be
preferred against him.

(e) ©Cn the 25th April, 1977, he was by letter
vrongfully and unjustifiahly dismissed from

hig employment by the appellent.

The appellant by its defence, pleaded misconduct of the respondent

S

as ‘ustifving hie dismissal. It pleaded that the respondent on the night
(\‘ﬂ in quection and cubsequent thereto was guilty of misconduct in and about
“is employment in that inter alia:

(1) lie absented himself from his post from
approxicately 6:12 p.m. to 8:30 p.n.
and so wag absent when the hopper and
shuttle belt became Llocked and over-
loaded ~ he thus failed to tale
srecautionary measures against injury to
the apnellant.

(2) He Zailed to take any or any adequate
measures to rectify the faults vhich had
arigsen in the loading system anéd failed

T to report the incident or the
(;4f circumstances sf the brealk-down to the

-~

appropriate officer.
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Ve used indecent language to 2 superior
fficer, namely, the Plant Shift

Supervisor Fvon Clarke, and acted in an

insolent and irregponsible manner,

He subsequently refused to pive a
yritten report ‘on the ‘circumstances of
the break-dovn when requasted to do so.

ie was thus guilty of insubordination,
~ross neglect and or rechless disregard
of hig duties and abdication of his
regpongibilities.

ALt the trial it became clear from the cross-examination of

the respondent that vhat were really In serious contention were the

folloving inter-velatad issues:

(a)

)

(a)

(e}

In regazd

V’as the respondent absent from his post
at the time of the Blockage? If ego was
it juetified?

Did the respondent take any or any
adenuate steps to obtain temporary casual
vorkers to clear the blockace on the
loading svstem?

Did he elert his immediate supervisor and/
or any cother superior officer lnowr and
available to him to agsist him, if
necessary, to resolve tle problem including
the rounding up of temporary casual workere?

Did he show the necessary regponcibility
in discharzing his dutieg in the critical
situation caused tv the tloclkage?

nid he instead of complyving with a
reasonable recuest, bLehave insolently by
using indecent lenguage of/and concerning
superionr officers, nemely, lir. Pengelley
znd Mr. Evon Clarke when tle latter
communicated to him the request of Mr.
Pengelley, for an immediate report of the
circumstances of the bloclage and how he
the regpondent was coping with the

problem?

Did the respondent at a cubsecuent date
refuge to give a written report, during
the course of the investigation of the
circumstances of the blockase of the
loading system?

2

tc ti:xe first issue that is to say the respondent's

absence from his post the learned trial judse found as primary facts or

inferences therefrom the following:
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The appellant wac agserting as the
cause of the respondent'sc absence
frem his post the fact that on the
invitation of 1fr. Vinter botl: the
regpondent and Mr. Cover had left
thie ‘ob to visit Mr. Vinter.

The purpose of the vigit was not duty
hut For drinlie and Mr. Winter imbibed
so nucl. that he became comatose and
bevond the reach of the vespondent
vhen the latter nceded help in - the
urgent gituation created subsequently
by the blockage of the hopper and
ovexr~loading of the shuttle bhelt.

Because Mr. Vinter ag a supervisor
cnould not properly admit that he had
taken the respondent and lr. Cover
off their ‘obts for érinls, he had

to hvist and hend' his evidence to
effect the exclusion of this. Mr.
Cover also liad to ‘twist and band'
is evidence to exclude this ¢rinking
c¢iversion so to support his stance
that e was never atsent from his
post.

The evidence of IMr. Winter and Mr.
Cover was discredited because of this
"twisting end bending' for the purpose
of obriatirg the need to admit having
fone vhat they each Inewv was against
tle rules.

Tihe respondent was away Zrom his iob .
from 6:07 p.m. and returned at 7:15

p.m. at whichr time he was checlxing the
vater level. MNMr. Cover had returned
from Mr. Uinter ahead o trhe respondent
and when the latter was needed, Mz,
Cover vroceeded en route to lir. Vinter's
home to summon him because he had 1left
him there.

Mr. Cover ig additionally discredited
because he told a delilberate untzuth
vien in his evidence he statecd that he
vould go to Mr. Vinter's home only on
dutv that is to say for help, if there
wag a prollem on the iob, whereas

Mr. Winter says in evidence that Mr.
Cover visited Lim on social occasions
in cddition to visits while on duty.

Lbsence by the respondent from hie post
in the circumstances described above
omounted basically to leave granted tv
the respondents superior offi

< as

iper fficer and as
such cannot be regerded a ground for
dismissal.
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The appellant appeals againct these findings on the ground
that they are against the weight of the evidence and sre the result of
the learned trial judge misdirecting herself on the facts.

In my view there ig much merit in thisg ground of appeal because
the reasoniny and conclusion of the learned trial ‘udge are plainly
unsatisfactory. Thev are predicated on an incorrect view of the facts
ziven in evidence and on the discrediting of Mr. Winter and
Mr. Cover on a premise vesting partly in speculation and partly on the
aforesaid incorrect view of the evidence particularly: as given by Mr.
Cover.

Tirgtly, the learned trial judge drew the inference that
Mr., Cover was a discredited witness because Mr. Winter said that

Mr. Cover would visit him on social occasions, vhereas IMr. Cover lLac
3

©
)
[de
o

id that he would ¢o there only on duty for heln if there was a problem

on the job., This ie an un’ustified ard unsatisfactory bagis for

discrediting Mr., Covar hecauge in his evidence he never used the word

“only'. His evidence is that "I would go at times to Mr. Winter about

my duty'. The record cdoes not disclese that he was ever asked whether

he had ever sone on social occasions muchless that he had answered in

the negative. It is thus unfortunate that he ghould be discredited on

an incorrect view of his evidence sugpesting that he had told an untruth,
Secondly, the learned trial judge drew adverse inferences to the

discredit ¢f Mr, Vinter end Mr. Cover, namely, that in order to protect

their respective positions they were “twisting and i:ending” the facts in

order not to reveal that Mr. Cover and the respondent had heen invited at

about 6:32 p.m. by Mr. Vinter to his home not to tea but it seems for other

repast more endenmic to a Jamaican Society, one which puts Mr. Winter very

soundly to sleep - beyond Mr. Cadien's reach when help was neceded." The

respondent did not give evidence of the purpose for which he visited

Mr. Winter, he did not give evidence of the time he went and for how long
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he stayed or what actuall: took place at Mr. Winter's bome., A1l he
said was that he left Mr. Uinter's home at about 7:33 - 7:15 p.m.

Mr. Vinter's evidence is that the respondent chme to his house at

about (!79 p.m. as a result of a requesf by him that the respondent
after checkin: the svatem should let him know if everrthing was alright.
There ig thur no evidence whatsoever primary or inferentisl to justify
the discrediting of these witnesses on the bagis that both Mr. Winter
and Ir, Cover sought to suppress the fact of a drinkin- session with
the respondent. Thig is speculation and no witress ought to be
discredited on speculation.

Thirdl», Mr. Cover is again discredited because he said that
vhen he wanted the respondent, he proceeded en route to Mr. Vinter to
loo!~ for him. This the learned trial judce said was erplicable on the
basis that he I'new that the respondent wag at Mr. Winter because he lir,
Cover had been there witl: the respondent and hed actuelly left him
there. There is however no evidence that Mr, Cover had left the
regpondent at Mr. Vinter. The respondent's evidence which was the only
evidence on the matter wés that Mr. Cover receded him to Mr. Winter's
home but that “oth veturned at the same time from Mr. Winter's lLiome
ever thoush thev drove separate vehicles, This reason for discrediting
Mr. Cover not beins tased on any evidence is again wholly un’ustified
and unsatisfactory.

Tourthly, the learned trial judge found as the reason for tle
respondent's absencc from duty at the critical time of the utlockage a
fct which vas neither in the pleading of.either party nor given in
evidence by the appellant. The apbéllant ne&cr admitted that the reason
for the respondent's absence Irom duty.between 6:70 p.m. ~ 3:30 p.m. was
that “¢ had left his ‘ol to wvisit Mr. Winter. It was the respondent who
in his evidence statoed that he was not absent fiom work during the
aforesaid pericd except for a period, wvhich he did not state, vhen he

vigited the hone of Mr. VWinter on the latter's invitation. His case was

352
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that desnite this visi; to M., Winter be vas bacl at Lis work place
well before the critical time when the appellant savs he should be on
spot. Dy postulating a view of the facts different to that on which
the appellant's complaint rested, the learmed trizl iudce disabled
herself and so failed tc give due weight to the real complaint, namely,
whether at £:07 p.m. the respondent ought to have been at the cantry
or in his ocffice to supervise the starting up operation.
Fifthly, the learned trial ‘udge's finding that the respondent's

absence from duty between 6:33 p.m. and 7:15 p.m. amounted in the

o

circumstance to leave granted by his superior officer is totally
inconsistent with her finding, al:eit erroneous, that the respondent
wvas avsent for purposes of regaling himself with Mr. Vinter an English-
man in a repast move endemic to a Jamaican Society than tea. The
respondent could never congsistentlv with his own admitted awareness of
hig responsgilility, hcnestly believe that le would be entitled to
abgent himself from duty at a critical time even on the direction of
another emplovee albeit o supericr officer where such absence was not
for the benefit of nor in pursuaonce of his duties to their common
emplover. Tie respondent tlwus never pleaded onv prant of leave of
atsence and tle learned trial ‘udge fell inte the additional error in
finding for the respondent relative to tlig issue on 2 basis not pleaded
by -im. This error is particularly pronounced when viewed in the licht
of the respondent's evidence that ot the critical time, namlev, about
8;30 p.m. he was at his work place even though he was not up in the
cantry nor in his office to supervige the starting-up operation.

The next complaint of the appellant is that the learned
trial ‘udce in dealing with the second issue namelw whether the
respondent took ony or any adequate steps to locate casgual worlers
misdirected herself on the facts ir holding that the respondent's
failure to locate workere resulted Zrom his lookingz for trem in the

wrong place viz, the scuare vather than on the pier.
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The learned tricl “ud-e in findinzs e a fact that the

.o

regpondent did zo in search of casual workers Iut wag unsuccessful
hased her findin- or srounds which were untenalble and totallw
unsatisfactery havin~ recazd to the resnendent's ovn evidence and

t-e unchallenged evidence of the eppellant. She said at pases 115~

"Mr. Sinclair seid that a list of twent to
tventy-four of these workers from which

tl:er can select was assisned to this department.
Fe ad had three years emplovins casual laboux
and he admits to having 2 preat vorking l'nowledre
of the wen. But these men can e found laving
avound iu the pier area. Mr. Cadien said that

e drove b the pier and to the square where men
vaere bHut not cazual workers. The evidence as a
vhole ic silent "ac to where the pier arez is

vis 2 vis the cquare, and other aveas vhere
. ien evidenced he wisited in search of
casual workers. Put it mar %me that lr. Cedien's
ifficulty in finding wvorkers sprung from the
act that he was locking Zor them at the wronge
2 6, that ig, at the square etc. rather than
remainin: ot piex, till thev turned un. THe

said that it vas alwave Mr., Winter's
regsponsibility to get casgsual worers and he
alwarye 4id, that he would have to ret perrdssion
glac but beiny unable to gpeal: vith rim he
undertool: the recponcilkility ond went ocut on hic
owr, If on Mr. Winter's return to office he wac
gaticfied he Mr. Uinter would nake out a
requisition for them to be paid. His lack of
Inowledre in recruiting could well Le encther
reason why hie had gone to the wronr placec. On
the other hand Mr, Pengelley with his wast
experience would certainly know where they could
be found,"®

3
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The evidence in chief of the respondent at page 2° is however to

ti:e following effect:

"I left them and sav the electrician a

Mr. Miller and asked him to check the
gystem for me while I left to report to

Mr. Vinter. I vent tc hic tome but did

not see him but spolie to his wife in
relation to the lreakdown. I left and went
in environs of Discovervy Ray, Farm Town,
Thickets seareliing for casual worlers to
ascist the two men I left to shovel 1t off
mowing that the two I left could not clone
expeditiously shovel off the bauxite,
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"It vas now well past .30 ».m. It was
about ©.30 p.m. whern I left lLir. Winter's
house. When I stovped sesrchine for
voriers it was almost 11,90 p.n., T did
not find any caswval workers that -ight,
T have had geveral breakdowns of this
natuze before. T have never of myself
cone out to fetch casual! vorlery but
nave had breakdowns of this tynpa, Mr,
Vinter is vesponsible Jor tlis, Y
realized he was rnot available aftax
cpealiing with his wife so I took res-
pongibility of poing for it myself."

and uncder cross-cxanination at page 35:

Mot coxrect that betwecen 10:30 and

12 ridnight I never left my desk,
Between that Lour I was on street
looking fOr MeM te.vveensrrnronnsnsos
Uhen I went into town I saw persons
in tlhe ggquare, IMen were there but no
casual werker, I krew. Could Le some
I did not Inow who were there. HWever
asl:ed those, as I went to ask thoge

I knew, Ily nurpose was to get persons
to assist.”

anc¢ also at pase 36:

"I have had similar problems and lhad
ot casual workers. ......... ...
Regponsibilit; to fet casual worlers
not rmine. Always Mr. WVinter's
vesponsibility to get casual worlers.
cveevieseses If Mr, Winter is uot
avallalle I can o and zet them and
vhen he comes if satisfied T:e can make
out the requisition. ........ceevevnnas
Sometimes vou <o it and it is aporoved
and sometimes it back-fires ond
questioned wly d¢id vou apnrove so many
men, " (Fmphasis nine.)

From the above excerpts from the respon’eat's evidence under
cross-examination it seemis clear that ke as resiled from his position
in examination-in-chief namely that he hed mot previously gone to fetch
casual workers. MNe is saying that Lie has got casual worl:ers on previous
occasions, hence e is not pleading inexperience in securing casual
workers., The respondent has equally not attrilbuted niis failure to
secure casual workers to tlhe fact of L:is having gone to loolz for them
in the wronr place. In fact he went to the right place namely, the
environs of Discovery Bay &s revealed by the evidence of Mr. Pengeller,
Mr. Winter, Mr. Clarlbc and Mr. Sincldir.

The evidence of Mr., Jan Pengeller tie mines nanager is that he

Fod
0

experienced mo GLE

ieculty in locating cacual worhers. At pages £7-480 b
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"About 11.30 Mr. Clarke called and I made
telephone calles as a wesult tc Chipping
Toreman's office. Phone appeared to ving

heard ringing tone but sct no aonswer,
Failing to get it I called pantrr operator,
Mx. Leo Cover, and spoke toc him. I called
the guard at the pier cate Zollowing on
tois and gave him instructions. I was at
home. I waited for a reply following on
these calls from Mr, Cadien, I got none, I
got dressed .........., I drove along woad
and picked up three casual labourers along
road and turned them over to the foreman,
Mr, Sinclair, at that time. ........ I saw
Mr. Cadien at the pier seated in Lig car
in front of the foreman shipping office.

e e s e o p s 0 e

I experienced no difficultv in locating the
casual vorkers, ............. There are two
hundred in plant area (Discovery Bay).
vesessvsss Peonle in plant area are in
radius of five milegs from the plant. 1In
ceneral pretty easy to find them. Several

people looking for work."

and at page 53 he said:

"left Winter probakly about midnicht and drove
tovards the pier, I picked up thivee men and
vent to the pier. 1 stopped slon; main road
anc picked up the men on the street, Mr.
Winter ig about a mile from pier. It was then
a little after midnight."

Ir. Evon Clare the shift supervisor who was formerly & shipping
Fforeman gave evidence on the location of casual workers similar to Mr.
Pengelley, at page 66 he said and I quote:

"There ig a list of persons with badge numbers
wixc can bhe called out at any time, There is a
list in the shipping office and about two
hundred persons are listed. Thev are located
on 8 _radius of four to five miles in close
proximity to the nt. The shipping department
has to utilige casual workers fairly often -
everv yweek, he need will arise in any shift.
In nv experience no extreme difficulty in
locating them at nights or on Public Holidays,
To get three or four such workers T would go

list and fo to the addresses. As Shipping
Foreman T had to do that. On scme occasions -
not cften I have experienced difficulty in
getting them to work but I have always been able
to find them. Not all would e umrilling to
vorl," (Emphasis sunplied)

Mr. Winter who was then the shipping supcrvisor gave evidence

at page 79 to the following effect:
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"Casual workers are engaged, by company,
myself or foreman can engage worlkers in
that department. ......ee.... In this
department unlike other departments we

were permittecd, that is, mygelf or fore-
man to take on workers any time it was
necessary, There is a location near pier
vhere ten to twelve men could be found and
about two hundred on a radius of five miles.
Area close to pier would not be strange to
Mr. Cadien as he boarded in that avea at
one time, Having regard to Good Friday and
time 2,30 - 11:30 p.m., knowing the area I
vould savy there would be men on the street
outside and whatever bars there are in the
area, If two to three men are required,
within half hour oxr a little more those
persons could be located.”

Mr. Earl Sinclair o shipping foreman gave evidence at
page CJ ae follous:

UI usually worl swing shift and graveyard and
rave had to engage casual workers on those
shift. .......... In locating them at nights

it would take up to one and a half lLoure to pick
up several guys, We were informed of two
hundred on record but from our department we

had a group of twenty to twenty-four we could
select from. We could utilize nersons from this
nurber, They are located in and around the pier
area of Discovery Bay. If a breali-down occurs
on bacl:shift and casual vorkers needed the
foreman would employ these workers and it would
be his responsibility."

These extracts from the evidence indicate that the pier

arca, the plant area and the square 21l relate to the area or envi™ 1 in
and around Discovery Bay which on the unchallenged evidence of Mr. Winter
is well known to the respondent, he having lived there some time
previously. There is thus no factual basis for the learned trial judge to
have found that the lack of success of the respondent in securins nrrugl
woriers was due to his having gone to the wrong place and or his lack ¢f
knowledge in recruiting., The respondert never said so, his case is that
he s rched but did not £ind, The irresistible inference to be drawn from
the facts proved in evidence, viewed zgainst the background that the

and
respondent hus manifested skill/competence over the years in reaching the
responsible post of shipping foreman, is that he did not go in search of
casual vorkers because had he done so he must certainly have found two or
three such workers in the environ of Discovery Ray vhick vas well l:nown to

him.
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The learned trial judge also erroneously based her finding
that the respondent did go in search of casual worliers on the fact that
he had told Mr, Clarlke about 11:35 p.m. that he had Jone so. The
learned trial ‘udge's reasoning is that at the time when the respondent
nmade this statement to !xr. Clarke, he "had no thought or idea that his
actions would be the suliect of encuiry and at a time when he had nc
time in which to maite up a story.” This ground for finding in favour
of the respondent is neither justified in law nor on the facts. The
previous consistent statement of the respondent can have no probative
value whatsoever ag it was nd part of the res restae but a report made
after the incident to which it related namely, the alleged search for
casual worlers., Vhether it was made ante litem motam so to speal; and
in circunstances precluding any onportunity to make up & story arve
entirely irrelevant. Being a previous consistent assertion it is of no
probative value and is incapable of confirming the respondent's evidence
that he unsuccessfully searched for casual worliers. On the facts, the
situation revealed to the contrary, a state of affairs where unless the
responcent was totally devoid of rcagon he wust have realiged that his
conduct could be called in cuesticn. There was a situation vhere he
Iinew that the loading system had broken down gince about Z:15 p.m., He
had placed two workers to shovel cff the bhauxite from the overloaded
shuttle belt but he lnew that these two workers were totally inadequate
to the tas!. The appellant his emplover in the meantime was incurring
erpenses in demurrage due to delay in loading the ship. He had not
establish .contact vuvith either lr. Pengelley, lMr. Winter or Mr. Clark
to ceel: asgistance. Instead of being at the seat of action giving even
moral support to the two overstretched workers he lay stretched out in
complete abandon in his office with his hare feet which showed no sign
of in’urv placed on the desk. Had the learned trial judge given due
weight to these circumstances revealed by the evidence she would
inescapatly have concluced that the respondent woculd have had good and

sufficient reason for believing that hies conduct would must likely be
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the subiect of enguiry and that In consequence anvthing that he said
could e self-serving and incanable of confirming his tectimony in
court.

Mext the appellant complains about the learned trial judge's
determination of the issue c¢f ~ross neclect avicing Zrom th

respondent's failure tc alert hig immediate sunerviscor as pleaded b hinm,

R~

or any other superior officer cf tl i

he hlockage. he matter is dealt
with T the learned trial judge at pages 116117 in these wcrds:

“The defendants said that he failed tc veport
the Llockage to Mr. Clarke the Drwing Supervisor
or gee!: his agsistance in rectifyving it,

Mr. Cadien said that he did not lLnov that

Mr. Clarke was the person over-gzll on that shift.
He -ad alwavyc regarded the departuents as
separate and go sought the beln of “is own
department head, Mr. WVinter, instead., Mr. Cover
with thirteen vears in the siippnins department
wag Ywowerer awave cf this arrangement so was
Ir., Sinclair of nine vears but lir, Cadien cf
less than cune and a half vearz experience in this
department stuc tc his written instructicns of
tte inter - cffice memc of 29th January, 1976
which said that Mr. Winter was the peveon to
vhorm he should ansver and this tecause he had
sot no otier ingtructicns oral or written.

Mr. WVinter said that thcse instructions vere
given verhally and he vag unaile te say whether
he had given them to him. Apparently the
necegsity never arcse for Mr., Winter to tell him
and so Mr. Winter forpget tc do so. Mr. Cadien
then could not have failed to dc somethins whic’.
he never Imew he should dc."

In dealing with this issue in a somevhat isclated wav
unrelated to the issue wihether the respondent having failed tc aler
Mr. Vinter, had taken any cr any édequate steps tc secure cagual workere
te wectify the prollem, the learned trial judge manifestly failed to
apnreciate the weight and bearing of the respondent's failure tc seek
agsistance cn the central issue wvhich was, whether, taking all the
circumstances together, the respcendent was guilty of a serious neglect of
duty in not effectively remedying the hlockage and securing the
resumntion of the loading operation. Again the learned trial judge

erroneously limited her consideration to the resnondent's non-commrunication

3579
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with Mr, Evon Clarke and even here she failed to appreciate that the
circumstances notvithstanding the inter-cffice memo did not “ustify
non-conmunication. She failed te appreciate that the veal thrust of
the appellant's complaint vas that neotwithstanding tle written words
contained in Exhibit 1 that the respondent's line of comnrunication was
to Ir."Winter, he acted in such an unreascnable manner wien being unable
to locate casuval vorkers he failed and or nerlected to contact persons
vho undoubtedly te his l:nowledse ireve senior officers end could assist
him in locating the said casual workers in tle absence of Mr. Winter so

that bis failure to contact any ¢f these nerscons was tantamcunt to

ss dereliction of his duties.

]
k]
o]
(6]

The respcndent admitted that as shinping foreman, it was
hig duty to repcrt to lr. Pensellev in the absence of his immediate
supezvigor., He could, Le further admitted, communicate with him by
telephcne without difficultry. I, Clarke, also on the resnondent'c
admisgion ad occupied a nosition higher than his and was a former ghinning
foreman with considerable experience in the ghippin: operationg. He could

also communicate witl 4r. Clarke by telephone. Vet e did not. in his owm
words, find it necessary to communicate with either., The learned trial
ludee's reascning and conelusion on this welated issue ig thus not only
asainst tie welglhit of the evidence but unmistakably arises from a
failure to appreciate the case of tl'e appellant ac revealed on the evidence
vhich is that the various acts ¢r inacticns constituting the gross neglect
of dJuty sre insepara’.le vhen considered as justification for the dismissal.
The appellant next complains against the conclusion of the
learned trial judge on the issue whether the respondent did manifest the
neceggary responsibilitr in discharsing his duties in the critical
situation caused v the "lockase. This really iec a conclusion from a
concideration of the subsidiary issues e.:. absence from duty at the

critical time, failure to get casual wvorkers and to scel: assistance from

his superiors to sunnlement if necessary his lacl of experience and hisg



36/

34,
remainine relaxed if not asleep in tis office while the urgent situation
remained. The appellant complains that tle learned trial “udge
nisdirected herself on the facts and gso made a finding which was un-
reagonable and againgt the weight of the evidence in favour of the
respondent.
The learned trial judce at page 192 of the record stated

the main issue as che say it namelv.
Mihether Mr. Cadien neglected or failed to
do, .o showed cross incompetence in vhat
he was required to do and whether or not
it wae a matter of great importance which
caugsed serioug damaze or injury to the
defendent compan~ taking into account the
narticular circumstances of this casge and
the character of the wozl: he was wequired
to do."

She then nroceeded to consider and resolve inter 2lia the
undermentioned subsidiaxry but inter-related issues in isolation namely:

(a) The nlaintiff's absence from Lis post
at the time of hlockage.

(b)Y Tre “lockare
(c) Effoxrt to secure casual workers.
{d) Steps talen to rectify t ‘@ Llockage
Haviny done so she again posed this auestion at nage 117:

"The guestion ig, did he neglect to act or
did he ‘show Jross incompetence in what he
was required to do in a matter which was
of urgency and impoytance?"

After considering the opinione of Mr. Clarke and Mr. Winter
on thc hypothesis t*at the respondent had gone in seazch of casual workers
eshe angwered this gquestion thus at pape 118:
"They had completed the work ©Lr 12.2C a.m.

It means then that the baurite was largely
removed at the time when the extra hands
came on. The ghip was delaved for four
hours. Had he been al:le to get extra hands
it would ba‘e been clea*eﬂ ea*lle" but I
find that tbougl he mizht not have mastered
it with the competence of the Plant
Operation Superintendent he certainly did
not display incompetence or neclect in this
area."
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35. |
and at page 125 she said: ‘

"In my view he did nothing which was

inconpatitle with the due or faithful |
discharge of his duty to his emplover,
Le did not fail to digplev a rcasonable
degree of commetence in all the
circumstances, Albeit, Mr. Pengelley
proved more efficlent and competont in
tlic particular area of finding casual
vorkers ond here there was no error of
judsment or neglect on Mr, Cadien's part
as he was aware that the labour wasg
ingufficient andé had made cfforts to
find other labour."

The pith of the appellant's complaint is that the learned

trial judge failed to perceive that the essence of the misconduct which

the appellant says amounted to gross neglect cof dutr by the respondent
and abdication of his responsibility consisted primarily in (a) his
absence from the pier or from his office at the critical time when as

he Imew he should e in close proximity to the venue of the starting-up
operation, (b) his incomprehensible failure to obktain cagual worlers
compounded with his even more incomprehensible failure to see’ the
assistance of available experienced persons of whom he had knowledge, and
(c¢) his nonchalant and irresponsible beliaviour in reclining uninjured in
his office from at least 11:15 p.m., knowing fully well that the
blockage still remained unrectified and his employer was in the meantime
incurring costs and exvenses consequent on the attendant delay in the
loading of the ship.

As Dr. Barnett submitted, the respondent, after discharging
the obvious common sense duty of putting two workers on the shift to shovel
off the bauxite on the over-loaded shuttle belt and contacting the
electrician, was thereafter singularly difficult to contact and
conspicuously absent from the critical ares,

The respondent on his own admisgion did not return to the
gantry after his visit at 11:00 p.m. until his shift ended at 12 midnight
to see how the worl: of shovelling was proceeding even though he knew only

too well that the operation could not be ezpeditiously hindled by the
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two casual workers alone. The conduct of the respondent in remaining in
his office in anparent ease at a time when he ghould be showing some
urgency, vas not so complaing the appellant, conduct whick should be
treated as being : nerely thoughtless and as not being an issue
to be taking into account in considering dismissal as stated by the
learned trial judce.

I consider that there is considerable merit in the complaint
of the appellant that its case was not correctly perceived. The
learned trial judge by treating each issuc isclation and not as facets
of the total conduct which the appellant alleses constituted gross
neglect and abdication of responsibility, disabled herself from
appreciating the weight and bhearing which the cumulative effect of the
evidence adduced on each subsidiary iscue would have on the appellant's

)

decision whether the conduct of the respondent in its totality
constituted misconduct amounting to gross neglect of duty.

Against the Daclground that the bases for the learned trial
judge's finding that the vitnesses for the appellant, in particulaxr
Mr. Cover "tvisted and bent® their evidince are groundless and unsubstan-
tiated, the high points in the overall evidence show that the respondent
vas late for woriz, he was not available to direct the gtarting-up
operation of the loadinz system even though he I'new he should be present
civing direction. He was seen only after the breal:-dovn about £:20 p.m.
“fter going through the elementary exercise of putting two shift worlkers
to clear the overloaded shuttle belt, he was next seen in his office about
11:46 p.m. in apparent ease and likely slumber. On hkis own admiscgion he
did not between 11:00 p.n, and 12:00 midnight go to the gantry to see
hov worl: was progressing. He said he had unsuccessfully scouted the

=

envitions of Discovery Bavy for additional sorely needed casual workers. He
in fact sav men in the square vet he did not engege any as he did not
know if they were casual workers and did not asl: any of them if they were,
He did not communicate with either Mr. Pengelley to whom e was in duty

bound to communicate in the absence of Mr. Winter nor with Mr, Evon Clarke,

botl: senior officers easily accessible by telephone.
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On his own admission Mr. Clarke has wide experience in
ghinping and was a former sh., .ing foreman. He did not view it
reasonably necessary or expedient to seek the agsistance of either

~

of these persons on the urgent matter of securing te casual workers.
He was content to rest in his office while his emplover was being
burdened in demurragz due to delay in the loading of {he ghip result-
ing from the Ltlockage in the loading svstem. This evidence in ny view
depictes a situation in which the respondent exhibited such non-
chalance in discharging his <uties including the seel:ins of assgistance
in a evitical and urgent situation that it eloguently bespeaks gross
neslect and abdication of responsibility.

With regard to the igsue ~F i~cnlenra ond the nez of
indecent languace, the complaint of the appellant is that the learned
trial judge having found that the respondent did use indecent lancuage
and wag ver: "“abrasive in his manne and coarse in hirc foul wmouth

utterinzs which were nuite inncusable' erred in finding that the

dictum of Lord Maugham in Jupiter General Imsurxance v, Shroff (1937) 3

All E,R, nage (7 ot page 74 was apposite to the circumstances before
Pl ] g p

e

her by tle mere substitution of the word "frustrated” for ‘'reprimanded®

..

mentioned in the Jictum.
The dictum of Lord Maugham in the above case commence at page 73
and is as f£ollows:

"Their Lordships recogrize that the immediate
disnissal of an employee is a strong weasure,
and they have anxiously considered the
evidenrnce with a view to determine the guestion
whether the trial ‘udge wes right in his
finding that the regporndent wvarc guilts of
neclicence which coupled with Lig conduct at
the interview of Dec. 21, was sufficient to
justify bie dismissal. n the one hand, it
can be in exceptional circumstances only that
an employer is acting properly in summarily
dismissing an employee on his committinz a
single act of neglifence: on the other, their
Lordships would e very loath to assent to
the view that a single outbreak of bad temper,

accompanied, it wmay be, with regrettable

language, ic a sufficient ground for
dismissal. Sir John Beaumont, C.J., was

36¢
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"stating a »roposition of mere good sense
when he observed that in such cases one
must apnly the standards of men, and not
those of ansels, and remember that men are
apt to show temper when reprimanded,™

In the above case the facts as found were that Mr. Shroff
I'nowing that a re-insurance onthe life of one Keshavii in the sum of
Re. 12,700 had been refused by Mr., Mody the manaszing governor of the
company, endeavoured to secure the acceptance by another senior
officer namely the secretary of the company and supervisor of the
life department, of a dirvect life policy on the life of the said
Keshavji in the sum of Psg. 50,009. When Mr. Mody by good fortune
became aware of this, he declined the proposal and summoned Mr. Shroff
to his office on December 21 and demanded to l:now why he had not
revealed to the other senior officer the fact that the re-insurance of
the life of Keshavji for a lesser sum had been declined by him where-
upon Mr, Shroff became angry and insolent but vouchsafed no intelligible
explanation.

lord Maughsm in delivering the judgnent of the Privy Council

allowing the appeal of the appellant company said thus at pages 74-75:
"e....e.If a person in charge of the life
agsurance department, sub’ect to the
supervision of superior cfficers, shows by
hie conduct or his negligence that he can
no longer command their confidence, and 1f
vhen an explanation is called fox, he
refused apolozy or amendment, it seems to
their Lordships that his immediate dismissal
ie ‘ustifiakle. Some at least of the above
congiderations seem not to have been present
to the minds of the judges on the appeal to
the High Court., In particular, their
Lordships cannot agree that the respondent
was guilty of 2 mexe error of ‘udzment.
eeeeaessae.s They take a serious view as to
the interview of Dec.2l. and they draw a
cifferent inference from that of the
judges as to the true meaning of the
regpondent's behaviour. Turther, ........
they are of oninion that it is a mistake
to consider the action of the respondent
in approving the risk, and hig conduct at
the interview, ag if these two matters
could sepnarately be excuced or erplained.
They are in truth inseparable from the point
of view of the action of Mr. Mody and Mr,
Iyer in aiving the notice of dismissal."
(Emphasis mine)

365
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In the present case there is no evidence from which the
learned trial iudge could have found that the respondent was frastrated,
equally he wag not being reprimanded., He was being informed of a
request, eminently reasonable, that he should get in touch with Mr.
Pengelley whom as a matter of dutv he should have already contacted but
had not done so, to advise on the continuing blockage of the loadins
system which ordinazfly should long before have been cleared., 1In ny view
the response of the respondent was not only inexcusable as found by the
learned trial judge but manifested insolence without provocation and
was such as to seriously undermine if not erode such confidence as Ir.
Pengelley and/or Mz, Clarke mav have had in him to act responsibly
especially having regard to the fact that he holds a supervisory position.
To atfack with expletives, when the respondent should in all the
circumstances have avidly grasped the opportunity, albeit belated, to
perform his duty by explaining if he could, his apparently out of
character conduct in relation to the continued blockage of the loading
system, is in my vievw, despite being‘a solitary occasion, sufficient to
warrant dismissal Leing a negation of the necessary sense of
respongibility whici: the post demanded. he quection of there being no
tumiliation of Mr. Pengelley or loss of respect in the eyes of his
fellow-workers or of lir. Clarke not having been disgraced in the presence
of others to my mind is not the only consideration as to whether the
respondent's abrasive and insolent conduct was capable of interfering
with or prejudicins the safe and proper conduct of the business of the
company. The erosion of confidence in him by his superior due to his
vulgar, abrasive and irresponsible behaviour when equanimity and a
sense of duty should be manifested would have a ¢ontinuing prejudicial
effect on the appellant since the respondent's ability to deal with urgent
situations in & manner commanding the respect and confidence both of

his superior and subordinates was seriously called in question.

344
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Tinally the appellant complazins that the learned trial *udge
erred in law in her conclusion on the respondent's failure to —ive a
written report on the circumstances of the break-down of the loading
svstem cspecially as he had made no entry in the log book of the afore-
3
(;~/ said circumstances.
The learned trial judge said at pages 124 - 125:

"Imnlicit in a suspension without a given period is
an indication that there is a matter which called
for further investigation. TI£f from these, negative
results flovw then reingtatement is automatic but if
this exercise proifers 'positive allegations, that
is, something whicl requires an explanation then a
hearing or interdictment becomes necessary at which
the worker is given an opportunity to offer the
explanation, this is, to answer those charges. He
can then be reinstated, dismissed, Further suspended

('~\ for a named period or otherwise punighed. But to

./ request a statement from a person already under
sugpension, if not voluntary given, would, in those
circumstances 1if demanded be prejudicial,
compromising and in breach of natural justice.
Mr. Cadien it is admitted, gave an oral report to
his gupervisor before a suspension letter was handed
to hin even thouglh the decision to suspend was
already taken. At the time of lir. Pengelley's
decision to dismisg, the accusative factg in his
possession consisted of sl statements. To dismiss
Mr, Cadien without giving him an opportunity of
answering these accusations is I hold compounding
the wrongful dismiscal."

The learned trial judge had previously found that the respondent
hac¢ failed to comply with the request of Mr. Pengelley for a written
statement. She said ét page 124:

"Nine days later he did not comply with the request
of Mr, Pengelley who came with pencil and paper to
collect a written statement from him. 'lle took the
view that when they had completed the anquiries and
investigations and he was awave of what the charges
were against him he would be prepared then to defend
them, "

The complaint of the appellant is that the learned trial ‘udge
("\ erred in law in holding that:
(2) The plaintiff/respondent was entitled ox
justified in refusing to give the requested

statement on the grounds that charges should
first be brought.
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(b) In failing to hold that it was the
contractual duty of the plaintiff
respondent to give a full report on
such request and that his refusal
vvas unreasonable and in breac!: of
contract, perticularly as he had
failed to complete the records,

(c) In holding that tle request for the
statement is contrary to the rules
of natural justice the principles
of which have no application to the
private contractual relationship
between the pleintiff/respondent and
tie defendant/appellant,

Dr. Barnett in his submission contends that the contractual duty
of the respondent vequired him to furnish reports to his superior
officers in relation to matters occurring during the shift on which
he was in cherge of the shipping operations, His refusal to furnish
the said reports constituted a repudiation of his contractual duty
and gince in the contractual relationship between thie appellant and
the responcdent tliere was no prescribed or stipulated procedure for
the formulation of charges following a susnension or inquiry, the
respondent could not justifiably refuse to furnish a statement on the
shipping operatior and the steps taken by him to meet the urgent
situation created by the blockagz on any pretext that charges against
him ghould first be formulated. Equally, Dr. Barnett submitted, the
concept of natural Justice which was generally applicable in the
sphere of public law had no application tc private contractual
relationshipns., I am of the view that Dr. Barnett's submissions are
correct and that the learned trial judge clearly erred in law when
she invoked the principle of natural justice which was inapplicable
in the situation and further applied procedures generally applicable
to employment in the public service but alien to the cgntractual
relationship svbsisting in the ordinary private master and servant

relationship which provided no disciplinary procedures to which

reference can be made.
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Concluding on the issue of the justification for the
dismissal of the respondent, I am, for the reasons given in
considering the separate but inter-related issues which called
for determination impelled to the conclusion that the judgment
of the learned trial ‘udge is -unreasonable and asainst the
weight of the evidence and that accordingly the appeal on this
issue ought to be allowed.

In the light of my above conclusion it is not really
necessary for me to consider the appeal relating to the award of
damages. However since reasoned submissions were made thereon
and authorities cited I heve decided to express an opinion on this
aspect of the appeal.

The appellant complains that the learned trial judge
erred in law:

"(a) 1In awarding damages for wrongful dismissal
over and above the amount recoverable for
the statutory or contractual notice period
or in excess of the amount claimed as such
by way of Speciel Damages.

(b) In holding that the manner of his dismissal
was to be taken into account in assessing
tie damages."

As Dr. Barnett rightly pointed out, it was common ground
that though the respondent's contract of service provided for four
weeks! nofice of termination, the Employment (Termination and

Redundancy Payment) Act governed his case and that the respcndent

by reason of his length of service would therefore be entitled to a

minimum ‘of six weeks' notice of termination. The learned trial judge

stated the law applicable and made a specific finding as under:

“A general hiring is terminable on reasonable
notica., What is ‘'reasonable notice" depends
on a totality of circumstances. Mr., Harkrison
the Personal QOfficer, gave evidence of &
custon in the company of giving one month's
notice to quit, It ig my viev that persons
vho are charged with senior posifions are
entitled by the very nature of their work to
longer notices than others. In the
particulars of Special Damages, six weeks is
claimed. I conaider it a reasonable period."
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Thus far there is no complaint against the learned trial
judge and there could be no complaint, However in addition to
ascertaining the emoluments wvhich would have been earned by the
respondent for the requisite six weeks period of notice and ewarding
that sum as the meagsure of damage as for a wrongful dismissal, the
trial judge went on to assess further special damage for ten months
as for loss of nrospective earnings of the respondent who because
of his advanced age would have difficulty in securing alternative
employment, She also gave general damage for being deprived of'the
privilege of further advancement in the company’.

With regard to the award of damages for loss of prosgpective
earnings and general damages the learned trial judge olearly erred tn
law in conceiving, because tl.e statement of claim was settled as in
& elajp in tort, that the elajm was other than one in contract of a
special kind for breach of which the messure of damage is that which
ensues by virtue of the fact that the contract hes not been terminated
in the manner agreed upon by the parties or as prescribed by the iaw.

In Addis v. Gramophone Co. (1203)-1910) All E.R. reprint
page 1 the plaintiff was employed by the defendant as manager of their
business at Calcutta at #15 per week as salary and a commission on the
trade done. He could be dismissed by six months' notice. In‘October
1905, the defendants gave him six months' notice but at the same time
appointed gome one else as his successor and tool steps to prevent the
plaintiff from acting any longer as manager., The plaintiff sued for
breach of contract and claimed inter alia damages for injured feeling
congsequeni on the humiliating circumstances surroundingz the breach
of contract. Lord Loreturn 1.C. at page 2 lucidly stated the measure

of damage thus:
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"To my mind, it signifies nothing in the
present case whether the claim is to be
treated as for wrongful dismissel or not.
In any cage there was a breach of contract

in not allowing the plaintiff to

lischarge his duties as manager, and the
damages are exactly the same in either
view, They are in my opinion, the salary
to which theplaintiff vas entitled for

the six months between October, 1905 and
April, 1906, together with the commission
vhich the jury think he would have earned
had he been allowed to manage the

businesg himself. I cannot agree that

the manner of dismissal affects these
damages. Such considerations have never
been allowed to influence damages in this
liind of case. An expression of Lord
Coleridge C.J. (Maw_v. Jones (1) 25 Q.B.D.
at page 108) ) has been quoted as authority
to the contrary. I doubt if the learned
Iord Chief Justice so intended it, If he
did, I carnot agree with him, 1If there be
a dismigsal without notice the ci.pioyers
nust pay indemnity; but thet indemnity
cannot include ccmpensation either for the
injured feelings of the servant or for the
loss he may sustain from the fact that his
having been dismissed of itself makes it
more difficult for him to obtain fresh
employment." (Emphasis mine).

In my view even though the real question on appeal was whether
damages in a case of wrongful dismissal could be awarded for injuxed
feelings due to the totally unjustified basis for the dismisgeal or because
of attendant words importing a ncn actionable oblequy. Loxd Loreburn took
the opportunity to state the correct principlé‘of the measure of damage
applicable to cases of wronzful dismissal, Lord Gorell also in laying
down the principle said at page §:

Wnes 1% ha were treated as suing for wréngful
dismissal, he could recover damages based on
the loss of the benefit of the contract for
six months, end the factors for determining
this loss would be the salary and commission
vhich he would have earned."

Mr. Edwards, contended that in addition to the lost emcluments
for the relevant notice period there could be agsessed damages for loss of

prospective earnings over and sbove the notice period as well as exemplary

damages.
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Tor tiis mapsaition he.gitad a peasgse 4 Batt on Master
Bund Sexvant (5¢b Bdition) 1967 page 263, This paseage weliss for ite

velidity on the prineiple assumed to be established in Maw v. Jones
(1890) 63 L.T. 347.

The Law lLords in Addis v, Cramophone Co. (suprae)

doubted whether the case established any such principle and went on to
state expressly that if any such principle was in faet established by
the ecase such a principle was n® approved, Thus Mr. Edwards'
submission is not well-founded either on prineiple or by authority.
Had Y coneluded that the appeal relative to the issue of
wronzful dismissal should have been dismissed, I would none-the-less
have allowed the appeal ac to the quantum of damages by limiting the
damages to the loss of salary for six weeks whigh wes vhe period which

the learned trial judge found tg ba neaganable for tha lawful termins~

tion of the comtrast of service,
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